

**Cochrane** Database of Systematic Reviews

# Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol)

Jayanti S, Beruni NA, Chui JN, Deng D, Liang A, Chong A, Craig JC, Foster B, Howell M, Kim S, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Mannon RB, Scholes-Robertson N, Strauss A, Tong A, West L, Cooper TE, Wong G

Jayanti S, Beruni NA, Chui JNoeline, Deng D, Liang A, Chong A, Craig JC, Foster B, Howell M, Kim S, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Mannon RB, Scholes-Robertson N, Strauss A, Tong A, West L, Cooper TE, Wong G. Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD014966. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014966.

# www.cochranelibrary.com



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
REFERENCES	7
APPENDICES	9
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	13
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	14
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	14



# Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation

Sumedh Jayanti<sup>1</sup>, Nadim A Beruni<sup>2</sup>, Juanita Noeline Chui<sup>3</sup>, Danny Deng<sup>3</sup>, Amy Liang<sup>3</sup>, Anita Chong<sup>4</sup>, Jonathan C Craig<sup>5,6</sup>, Bethany Foster<sup>7</sup>, Martin Howell<sup>8</sup>, Siah Kim<sup>9</sup>, Ruth Sapir-Pichhadze<sup>10</sup>, Roslyn B Mannon<sup>11</sup>, Nicole Scholes-Robertson<sup>8</sup>, Alexandra Strauss<sup>12</sup>, Allison Tong<sup>8</sup>, Lori West<sup>13</sup>, Tess E Cooper<sup>5,8</sup>, Germaine Wong<sup>8</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Westmead Hospital, Westmead, Australia. <sup>2</sup>Resident Support Unit, Western Sydney Local Health District, Westmead, Australia. <sup>3</sup>Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia. <sup>4</sup>Department of Surgery, The University of Chicago, Chicago, USA. <sup>5</sup>Cochrane Kidney and Transplant, Centre for Kidney Research, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, Australia. <sup>6</sup>College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia. <sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatrics, McGill University, Montreal, Canada. <sup>8</sup>Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia. <sup>9</sup>Nephrology, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, Australia. <sup>10</sup>Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Multi-Organ Transplant, McGill University, Montreal, Canada. <sup>11</sup>Division of Nephrology, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, Nebraska, USA. <sup>12</sup>John Hopkins Medicine, John Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA. <sup>13</sup>Departments of Pediatrics, Surgery, Microbiology and Immunology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

Contact: Sumedh Jayanti, sumedh.jayanti@health.nsw.gov.au.

**Editorial group:** Cochrane Kidney and Transplant Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 2, 2022.

**Citation:** Jayanti S, Beruni NA, Chui JNoeline, Deng D, Liang A, Chong A, Craig JC, Foster B, Howell M, Kim S, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Mannon RB, Scholes-Robertson N, Strauss A, Tong A, West L, Cooper TE, Wong G.Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD014966. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014966.

Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ABSTRACT

# Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (prognosis). The objectives are as follows:

To evaluate the prognostic effect of the recipient's (i) sex and gender separately (ii) gender as an independent predictor of patient-relevant outcomes at any time period following kidney or SPK transplantation (Table 1) and explore sources of heterogeneity. We aim to evaluate this prognostic effect by (a) clearly defining the relationship between recipient sex/gender and post-transplantation outcomes, which would involve identifying reasons for variations between sexes and genders, and then (b) quantifying the magnitude of this relationship.

#### Investigation of sources of heterogeneity between studies

Sources of heterogeneity may exist between studies that can have an impact on outcomes. We will explore potential sources, which may include patient age, self-reported ethnicity, country of transplantation, transplant era, living versus deceased donor transplantation, definitions and units used for outcomes, quality of the study, and the indication for kidney transplantation.



# BACKGROUND

# Description of the health condition and context

#### **Kidney transplantation**

Kidney transplantation improves both the quality of life and survival for patients with kidney failure compared to being on dialysis (Wolfe 1999). Furthermore, in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and kidney failure, simultaneous pancreas-kidney (SPK) transplantation is the optimal management for achieving ideal glycaemic control and kidney allograft function (Lindahl 2014). Short to medium-term allograft outcomes and patient survival after transplantation have been improving since the introduction of calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) from approximately 60% one-year survival in the early 1980s to above 90% currently (Arend 1997; Coemans 2018; Hariharan 2000; Meier-Kriesche 2004; Wang 2016). However, improvements in longer-term outcomes have largely been incremental. Ten-year allograft survival rates for deceased donor transplantation rose only from 42.3% for transplants conducted in the late 1990s to 51% for those performed in 2008. Similarly, for living donor transplantation, the respective increment was from 60.5% to 69% (Hariharan 2021; Hart 2020).

### Sex and gender and kidney disease

Prior work has reported conflicting data on the association between sex and gender of patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and with kidney transplants. Kidney function deteriorates faster in adult males with CKD compared to women (Carrero 2018), yet death is similar in adults of both sexes once treated with kidney replacement therapy (KRT). This comparable death rate contrasts with the general population, where women typically have a longer life expectancy than men (Hecking 2014). In children, girls treated with maintenance dialysis have a higher death rate, with the risk of death being at least 1.2 times higher than boys of the same age (adjusted Hazzard Ratio (HR) 1.16 to 1.28) (Ahearn 2019; Mitsnefes 2013). Early observational data also showed conflicting outcomes in adults after transplantation. Data from a registry analysis in Japan reported similar one-year graft survival rates between recipient sexes in the 1980s (Shibue 1987) whilst a retrospective analysis of transplants performed at Vanderbilt University Hospital found a 10% to 16% higher graft survival rate among female recipients (Richie 1983). There are, similarly, conflicting results with regards to the relationship between recipient sex and outcomes following SPK transplantation (Douzdjian 1996; Li 2016; Messner 2019). Reasons for these conflicting results with both kidney and SPK transplantation are not well understood and further evaluating them can be useful to the overall patient prognosis. These reasons may include differences due to allosensitization, hormonal effects of oestrogen, pharmacokinetic effects of different medications, donor-recipient size mismatch and sociocultural context, all of which contribute to a currently poorly defined relationship between recipient sex/gender and post-transplantation outcomes.

Female transplant recipients are more likely to be sensitised compared to men, having higher levels of pre-and post-transplant donor-specific antibodies (DSAs) (Bromberger 2017). This may be due to a greater number of sensitising events, primarily pregnancy (Porrett 2018; Redfield 2016). The presence of DSAs may increase the risk of graft loss in a transplant-naive individual by 23% (Redfield 2016).

The role of sex hormones is not clearly understood, but they are thought to play an important modulatory role in immune system function. Oestradiol could improve graft function and reduce cellular infiltration (Muller 1999), yet oestrogen could also stimulate antibody production from B-cells and promote differentiation of CD4+ T cells into Th2 cells, enhancing the immune response to environmental factors (Taneja 2018). Testosterone contrastingly causes immune suppression by promoting Treg differentiation and reducing lymphopoiesis (Trigunaite 2015), with testosterone deficient males having an elevated number of B-cell precursors in the bone marrow (Gubbels 2018).

Furthermore, it is known that men and women differ in their responses to drug treatment and that there are sex differences in the pharmacokinetic responses to immunosuppression (Momper 2017). The majority of immunosuppressive agents are metabolized by the cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes expressed in the liver, primarily CYP3A4 and CYP3A5, both of which have higher activity in females (Harris 1995). This, in addition to increased CYP3A4 isoenzyme activity in enterocytes in females, leads to higher rates of drug metabolism, primarily of CNIs. Furthermore, women are more frequently given supra-therapeutic doses because of a lower volume of distribution and slower renal clearance of drugs (Soldin 2009). Pharmacodynamic variations tend not to be as significant as pharmacokinetics, but females experience higher rates of adverse drug reactions which may be due to altered receptor numbers, variation in receptor binding and/or changes in signal transduction pathways following binding (Soldin 2009).

Sex mismatch, where the donor and recipient are of different sexes, may play a critical role in affecting post-transplant allograft outcomes. Female recipients can mount an immune response to the HY antigens present on male donor tissue (Melk 2019). This could lead to acute rejection with increased plasma cell infiltrates noted in the graft kidney (Tan 2008). Animal studies suggest that cross-sex transplantation can lead to increased gene expression levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6 in the recipient, which can trigger a stronger immune response (Wang 2017). A non-immunological mechanism that may explain variation in outcomes in sex-mismatched transplants is the potential size mismatch, where female kidneys have a reduced number of nephrons and when transplanted into males with larger body weights, a 'hyperfiltration' response may result in earlier graft failure (August 2017).

The term gender has often been used interchangeable with sex, leading to misrepresented analyses of gender (Melk 2019). In contrast to sex, gender is influenced by the sociocultural context and its impact on health outcomes post-transplantation would likely vary depending on an individual's age, ethnicity and country of residence. In cultural contexts where non-cisgender individuals are not widely accepted, an individual's access to appropriate healthcare may be limited (APA 2015). This can restrict early access to kidney transplantation, and appropriate post-transplant care. In societies where a man's health is prioritised above a woman's, especially when married, females may be reluctant to accept a living donor and financial constraints may further limit the ability to receive appropriate post-transplant care (Melk 2019; Steinman 2006). Gender may play a role in immunosuppressant medication adherence, which is important given adherence is known to be an independent predictor of the length of graft survival (Spivey 2014). Cross-sectional and retrospective analyses in North America,

Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

have suggested that female transplant recipients have higher rates of medication adherence compared to male transplant recipients (Chisholm-Burns 2016), which may also be further influenced by age, with significantly better adherence in young women aged 17 to 24 years compared to men of the same age, but no differences by gender in those of ages 11 to 16 years (Boucquemont 2019).

# Description of the prognostic factor(s)

The defined prognostic factors are recipient sex and gender.

- Sex is defined as the chromosomal, gonadal and anatomical characteristics associated with the biological sex, which includes male, female and intersex (APA 2015).
- Gender refers to the attitudes and behaviours that a given culture associates with a person's biological sex, with gender identity defined how an individual chooses to feel, present and recognise themselves within the community, including male, female, indeterminate classifications such as non-binary, gender diverse, gender-queer, or intergender (APA 2015).

#### Importance of sex and gender as a prognostic factor

Given that there has been a lack of significant improvement in longterm graft survival, it is vital to understand and quantify the effect of factors impacting allograft outcomes. This is especially because both kidney and SPK transplantation are core management options for patients with kidney failure. Recently, there has been an increased focus on the prognostic factors associated with longterm graft and patient survival. Factors that are predictive of improved graft survival include younger recipient age, living donor transplantation, absence of comorbid conditions including diabetes in both donor and recipient, recipient medication adherence, a higher degree of HLA compatibility and reduced episodes of acute rejection (Morris 1999; Prommool 2000). Sex and gender are both known to impact general patient health outcomes (Mauvais-Jarvis 2020), yet their association with outcomes following kidney and SPK transplantation has not been investigated in detail. Gender is likely to be represented in the context of societal and cultural expectations of males and females. Quantifying these relationships could help to improve long-term allograft outcomes.

#### **Health outcomes**

The Standardised Outcomes in Nephrology-Transplant (SONG-Tx) outcomes will be used in this review (SONG-Tx 2020). Allograft health is overall defined as a combination of both graft survival, and episodes of acute and/or chronic rejection. The primary outcomes for our review include graft survival and overall survival. Secondary outcomes include cancer (general and site-specific) and acute and/or chronic rejection (SONG-Tx 2020). All these patient-relevant outcomes will be reviewed in the context of their lifelong incidence following kidney and SPK transplantation.

#### Why it is important to do this review

This review will allow us to firstly (a) define the relationship between recipient sex and/or gender and patient-relevant outcomes post kidney and SPK transplantation and secondly (b), quantify the magnitude of this relationship. This will help tailor post-transplant management to account for sex or gender-based differences, particularly modifiable differences and encourage the inclusion of sex-specific analyses in observational studies and interventional trials focused on outcomes following transplantation.

While the incidence of CKD may be higher in men than women, access to both living and deceased donor transplantation is disproportionately lower in women than men. Compared to men, the probability of women receiving a living donor transplant was approximately 10% to 20% lower. Similar rates were observed with deceased donor transplantation (Hart 2020; Schaubel 2000). Evaluating the impact of recipient sex and gender on transplant outcomes could help to address this disparity in transplant allocation between sexes.

#### OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the prognostic effect of the recipient's (i) sex and gender separately (ii) gender as an independent predictor of patient-relevant outcomes at any time period following kidney or SPK transplantation (Table 1) and explore sources of heterogeneity. We aim to evaluate this prognostic effect by (a) clearly defining the relationship between recipient sex/gender and post-transplantation outcomes, which would involve identifying reasons for variations between sexes and genders, and then (b) quantifying the magnitude of this relationship.

# Investigation of sources of heterogeneity between studies

Sources of heterogeneity may exist between studies that can have an impact on outcomes. We will explore potential sources, which may include patient age, self-reported ethnicity, country of transplantation, transplant era, living versus deceased donor transplantation, definitions and units used for outcomes, quality of the study, and the indication for kidney transplantation.

# METHODS

This review will be conducted within the framework of Cochrane Kidney and Transplant and reported according to both the PRISMA guidelines (Moher 2009) and the prognostic factor systematic review template supplied by the Cochrane Prognosis Methods Groups. It will follow the guidance of the CHARMS checklist (Moons 2014).

# Criteria for considering studies for this review

# Types of studies

# Included studies

 Published studies that assess the above aim include cohort studies, randomised controlled trials (RCTs), case-control and cross-sectional studies. We will consider published data in peerreviewed journal articles in any language.

#### **Excluded studies**

 We will exclude case reports and case series, conference abstracts, conference proceedings, systematic reviews, metaanalyses, economic analyses, data from trial registries and grey literature. We will be excluding these study designs because we only want high-quality evidence to be included.

We will not be focusing on:



- Studies that are investigating the effect of sex and/or gender on access to kidney or SPK transplantation.
- Studies that do not focus on sex and/or gender as a prognostic factor.

# **Targeted population**

- All adults and children of any age
- Patients who have received a kidney or SPK transplant (with no limit to the number of kidney transplants)
- Any clinical setting and any location.

We will exclude patients who have:

• Not received a kidney transplant.

#### Types of prognostic factor(s)

We plan to use prognostic factor studies.

**Index**: (i) Sex and/or separately (ii) gender of kidney transplant recipient as a prognostic factor

We will accept prognostic factor assessment at any time point, including short, medium and longer-term outcomes and analyse similar time points appropriately or as subgroups. In the context of sex, the time point of assessment would not be important since this is a fixed biological variable from birth.

For the purpose of this review, sex is defined as the chromosomal, gonadal and anatomical characteristics associated with the biological sex, which includes male, female and intersex. Gender refers to the attitudes and behaviours that a given culture associates with a person's biological sex, with gender identity defined how an individual chooses to feel, present and recognise themselves within the community, including male, female, indeterminate classifications such as non-binary, gender diverse, gender-queer, or intergender.

Classifications of sex and gender will be individually examined, however, we expect that the term gender may often be applied erroneously and interchangeably with sex. We also understand that authors of articles may not specifically define sex and gender, but our reviewers will use their clinical judgement to determine in what context the terms have been used. If there is a disagreement between two authors regarding the definitions of sex and/or gender, a third independent author will assess the article. If there is still ambiguity regarding the definitions following an independent review, then the study will not be included. We expect that studies will use the terms male and female to mean sex if described in the context of a biological variation, such as differences in immune responses, and to reflect gender if related to societal and/or cultural expectations of their roles.

**Comparator**: This review is focused on the effects of sex and gender on post-transplant outcomes, and there is no specific comparator variable involved. We will accept all other variables used in prognostic factor studies within transplantation such as age, as part of a multivariable-adjusted analysis in determining the effects of sex and gender.

#### Types of outcomes to be predicted

The patient-relevant outcomes to be predicted are based on the SONG-Tx (SONG-Tx 2020) outcomes.

#### Primary outcomes

- Graft survival
- Overall survival

#### Secondary outcomes

- Cancer (overall and site-specific)
- Acute and/or chronic rejection

#### Timing

We will include and accept outcome data from any time points following transplantation (baseline) likely using a time-to-event model. Where possible, we may categorise these time points into short (hours), medium (days to three months) and long-term (three months to years) for stratified analyses, however, there will be no limit on the length of included follow-up times.

# Search methods for identification of studies

#### **Electronic searches**

We will search MEDLINE (OvidSP) and EMBASE (OvidSP) from inception to present using search strategies developed in consultation with the Cochrane Kidney and Transplant Information Specialist using search terms relevant to this review. Articles of all languages will be considered and translated to English prior to review.

See Appendix 1 for search terms used in strategies for this review.

#### Searching other resources

1. Reference lists of review articles, relevant studies and clinical practice guidelines.

# **Data collection**

# **Selection of studies**

All records retrieved by the literature search will be independently screened by five review authors (SJ and NB/JC/DD/AL). These authors will review the titles and abstracts to determine which studies meet the eligibility criteria for full-text review. The full text of all potentially eligible reports will then be investigated. Any differences in study selection will be resolved by discussion, or independently adjudicated by an additional author (TC).

A flow diagram of the number of records identified and excluded at each stage will be generated using a PRISMA template (Moher 2009).

#### **Data extraction and management**

Data extraction will be performed independently in duplicate by five review authors (SJ and NB/JC/DD/AL) using pilot-tested Excel extraction forms. These forms will be based on the CHARMS checklist (Moons 2014). Differences between extracted information will be resolved by discussion, or independently adjudicated by an additional author (TC).

Data extraction will include study design, location, timing and dates, follow-up, inclusion and exclusion criteria, baseline patient characteristics including age, self-reported ethnicity, kidney function, medication use and adherence, comorbid medical conditions (including diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease) and prognostic factors being examined focusing on sex



and gender and their definitions. Outcome data focusing on the primary and secondary outcomes will also be included, which involves numbers, percentages and/or survival curves. Authors of included studies will be contacted if information is lacking.

Companion publications or multiple reports of a primary study will be listed as secondary references under the primary reference of the included, ongoing or excluded study. In the event of companion publications or multiple reports of a prospective cohort study (e.g. because of different time points investigated), we will focus on the analysis of the publication describing the longest follow-up from baseline and extract data from shorter follow-ups in case some measures were not reported in the publication on the longest follow-up.

#### Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

The risk of bias of included studies will be independently assessed by five authors (SJ and NB/JC/DD/AL). Any differences in the assessment will be resolved by discussion or independently adjudicated by an additional author (TC). A pilot test of risk of bias and data extraction forms will initially be conducted to assess for any heterogeneity between reviewers.

The Quality in Prognosis Studies (QUIPS) tool will be used to assess the risk of bias in prognostic factor studies (Hayden 2013). A risk of bias score will be provided per included study. Authors of included studies will be conducted if there is not enough information to make a clear judgement. This tool is included in Appendix 2. The following domains will be assessed using this tool, as recommended by The Cochrane Prognosis Methods group (Moons 2018).

- 1. Study participation
- 2. Study attrition
- 3. Prognostic factor measurement
- 4. Outcome measurement
- 5. Study confounding
- 6. Statistical analysis and reporting.

The answer options for each sub-outcome will be yes/no/unclear/ NA and an overall risk of bias for that domain will be graded as high/ low/unclear. The rules for scoring as high/low/unclear are:

- High: most items are answered with 'no'
- Low: all items answered with 'yes'
- Unclear: most items are answered with 'unclear' Note: potentially a single item may introduce a high risk of bias, depending on study specifics.

# Measures of association or predictive performance measures to be extracted

The measures of association may include odds ratios (OR) or relative risk (RR) when dichotomous outcomes are considered without the need to account for the time point at which these outcomes are measured. HR will be included in a meta-analysis with time-to-event outcomes. If only a single P-value or a survival curve is provided without details of the observed, and the expected event rates or a lack of the variance of the measures, then the data will not be meta-analysed but will be included as a descriptive finding in the review. However, if the Kaplan-Meier curve is large enough for the authors to divide up into a number of time intervals that is sufficient to calculate the number of events, the numbers censored and the number of persons at risk during the follow-up time, then there will be adequate information to calculate an HR for the individual study, and this HR will be included in the metaanalysis (Tierney 2007). There is no specific comparator variable in the literature for prognostic factor studies with transplantation, but examples of variables in multivariable analyses include age.

#### Dealing with missing data

If necessary, we will contact study authors to obtain information on missing data. The level of missing data will be reported in the 'Risk of bias' tables and we will consider the extent to which these missing data may have impacted the results of the review. If missing data are unavailable, we will analyse only available data. Missing data will not be imputed.

# Assessment of heterogeneity

A forest plot will be constructed to represent the analysed data. We will visually inspect the forest plot to initially assess the heterogeneity of the eligible studies. Clinical heterogeneity will be assessed by comparing important participant factors at a study level, and methodological heterogeneity by comparing the risk of bias of studies, taking into account study participation, participant attrition and outcome measurement factors across the studies. We will assess statistical heterogeneity by inspecting forest plots and will use the  $I^2$  and Tau<sup>2</sup> statistics to estimate the total variation across studies due to heterogeneity. If we find high levels of heterogeneity ( $I^2 > 50\%$ ), we will explore possible sources of heterogeneity using the subgroup and sensitivity analyses described below.

#### Assessment of reporting deficiencies

If we are able to pool 10 or more studies and the meta-analysis does not demonstrate high levels of heterogeneity ( $l^2 > 50\%$ ), we will examine publication bias and other small study effects by inspecting a funnel plot for asymmetry.

#### **Data synthesis**

#### Data synthesis and meta-analysis approaches

Our primary aim is to provide an overall assessment of how sex and gender can affect the prognosis of patients following kidney or SPK transplantation.

We will pool unadjusted HR using a random-effects model to account for between-study heterogeneity. We aim to adjust these HRs, taking into account available covariates, with age being the most likely included (Dretzke 2014). If a mixture of adjusted and unadjusted HRs are presented, then they will be analysed separately. Likewise, if data is presented in risk ratios or alternate measures, they will be pooled together and analysed separately. A multivariable analysis will include data from similar study designs, with retrospective cohort and case-control studies being the most likely included given our clinical question. Data will be described descriptively if we are unable to meta-analyse.

#### Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

Subgroup, stratified and meta-regression will be conducted to assess the sources of heterogeneity between studies. Variables that may modify the effect of sex on post-transplant outcomes include the quality of the individual studies, eras and regions

of transplantation, recipient age and living vs. deceased donor transplantation. These will be assessed with regards to the SONG-Tx (SONG-Tx 2020) outcomes outlined.

Subgroup analysis will be conducted if sufficient data is available, with potential subgroups being:

- Transplant era (if data is sufficient, grouped into decades from 1980 to 1989 onwards)
- Country of transplantation
- Type of transplant (kidney versus SPK)
- Recipient age (if data is sufficient, age groups will include 0 to 19 years and every decade thereafter)
- Donor types (living versus deceased)
- Quality of donor kidney (standard criteria donor, extended criteria donor)
- Cause of kidney failure (if data is sufficient to be grouped into diabetes, hypertension, glomerulonephritis, structural kidney disease, tubulointerstitial disease, systemic illness, renovascular disease)

#### Sensitivity analysis

We will perform sensitivity analyses in order to explore the influence of the following factors on effect size.

- Repeating the analysis taking account of the risk of bias, involving studies with a low and unclear risk of bias
- Repeating the analysis excluding any very long (over a 10-year period) or large studies (multinational cohort studies with tens of thousands of patients) to establish how much they dominate the results
- Repeating the analysis excluding studies using the following filters: definitions of sex and gender, language of publication, source of funding (industry versus other), and country.

#### **Conclusions and summary of findings**

We will present the main results of the review in "Summary of findings" tables. These tables would be designed based on the GRADE (Foroutan 2020) approach (Appendix 3), which defines the certainty of a body of evidence as to the extent to which one can be confident that an estimate of effect or association is close to the true quantity of specific interest. We will judge

and report the overall quality of evidence for all our outcomes using the modified GRADE approach for prognostic factor studies (Foroutan 2020; Huguet 2013). We will rate the overall strength of evidence considering the risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, publication bias, effect size, dose-response gradient. We will rank evidence as high, moderate, low or very low. For observational evidence, we will begin with high certainty and reduce the grade as appropriate (Foroutan 2020).

The outcomes that we plan to report in our summary of findings table are:

- Graft survival
- Overall survival
- Cancer (overall and site-specific)
- Acute and/or chronic rejection.

We plan to ensure our review overall meets the criteria set out in Doull 2010 (Appendix 4).

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to acknowledge Ruth Mitchell, Information Specialist of the Cochrane Kidney and Transplant Group for developing the search strategies for this protocol.

We wish to acknowledge the Cochrane Prognostic Methods Group for their invaluable input to the methodology in the initial planning stages of this protocol.

The authors are grateful to the following peer reviewers for their time and comments: Dr Ashley Irish (Nephrologist and Transplant Physician, Fiona Stanley Hospital Murdoch WA, Australia), Ellon McGregor (Glasgow Renal and Transplant Unit, Glasgow, UK), and Nina KreuzBerger (Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Cologne, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany).

# **Editorial contributions**

- Sign-off Editor (final editorial decision): Giovanni Strippoli (Cochrane Kidney and Transplant)
- Managing Editor (selected peer reviewers, collated peerreviewer comments, provided editorial guidance to authors, edited the article): Narelle Willis (Cochrane Kidney and Transplant)



# REFERENCES

# **Additional references**

# Ahearn 2019

Ahearn P, Johansen KL, McCulloch CE, Grimes BA, Ku E.Sex disparities in risk of mortality among children with ESRD. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases* 2019;**73**(2):156-62. [MEDLINE: 30318132]

#### APA 2015

American Psychological Association.Resolution on gender and sexual orientation diversity in children and adolescents in schools. 2015. www.apa.org/about/policy/orientationdiversity.aspx (accessed 1 January 2022).

#### Arend 1997

Arend SM, Mallat MJ, Westendorp RJ, van der Woude FJ, van Es LA.Patient survival after renal transplantation; more than 25 years follow-up. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 1997;**12**(8):1672-9. [MEDLINE: 9269647]

# August 2017

August P, Suthanthiran M.Sex and kidney transplantation: why can't a woman be more like a man? *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2017;**28**(10):2829-31. [MEDLINE: 28754789]

#### **Boucquemont 2019**

Boucquemont J, Pai AL, Dharnidharka VR, Hebert DD, Furth SL, Foster BJ.Gender differences in medication adherence among adolescent and young adult kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 2019;**103**(4):798-806. [MEDLINE: 29994983]

#### Bromberger 2017

Bromberger B, Spragan D, Hashmi S, Morrison A, Thomasson A, Nazarian S, et al.Pregnancy-induced sensitization promotes sex disparity in living donor kidney transplantation. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2017;**28**(10):3025. [MEDLINE: 28483798]

#### Carrero 2018

Carrero JJ, Hecking M, Chesnaye NC, Jager KT.Sex and gender disparities in the epidemiology and outcomes of chronic kidney disease. *Nature Reviews Nephrology* 2018;**14**(3):151-64. [MEDLINE: 29355169]

# Chisholm-Burns 2016

Chisholm-Burns MA, Spivey CA, Tolley EA, Kaplan EK.Medication therapy management and adherence among US renal transplant recipients. *Patient Preference & Adherence* 2016;**10**:703-9. [MEDLINE: 27175070]

#### Coemans 2018

Coemans M, Süsal C, Döhler B, Anglicheau D, Giral M, Bestard O, et al.Analyses of the short- and long-term graft survival after kidney transplantation in Europe between 1986 and 2015. *Kidney International* 2018;**94**(5):964-73. [MEDLINE: 30049474]

#### Doull 2010

Doull M, Runnels VE, Tudiver S, Boscoe M.Appraising the evidence: applying sex- and gender-based analysis (SGBA) to Cochrane systematic reviews on cardiovascular diseases. *Journal of Women's Health* 2010;**19**(5):997-1003. [MEDLINE: 20384450]

#### Douzdjian 1996

Douzdjian V, Rice JC, Carson RW, Gugliuzza KG, Fish JC.Renal allograft failure after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: univariate and multivariate analyses of donor and recipient risk factors. *Clinical Transplantation* 1996;**10**(3):271-7. [MEDLINE: 8826665]

#### Dretzke 2014

Dretzke J, Ensor J, Bayliss S, Hodgkinson J, Lordkipanidze M, Riley RD, et al.Methodological issues and recommendations for systematic reviews of prognostic studies: an example from cardiovascular disease. *Systematic Reviews* 2014;**3**:140. [MEDLINE: 25466903]

#### Foroutan 2020

Foroutan F, Guyatt G, Zuk V, Vandvik PO, Alba AC, Mustafa R, et al.Use of GRADE for the assessment of evidence about prognostic factors: rating certainty in identification of groups of patients with different absolute risks. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2020;**121**:62-70. [MEDLINE: 31982539]

#### Gubbels 2018

Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN.Androgen-induced immunosuppression. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2018;**9**:794. [MEDLINE: 29755457]

#### Hariharan 2000

Hariharan S, Johnson CP, Bresnahan BA, Taranto S, McIntosh MJ, Stablein D.Improved graft survival after renal transplantation in the United States, 1988 to 1996. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2000;**342**(9):605-12. [MEDLINE: 10699159]

#### Hariharan 2021

Hariharan S, Israni AK, Danovitch G.Long-term survival after kidney transplantation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2021;**385**(8):729-43. [MEDLINE: 34407344]

#### Harris 1995

Harris RZ, Benet LZ, Schwartz JB.Gender effects in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Drugs* 1995;**50**(2):222-39. [MEDLINE: 8521756]

#### Hart 2020

Hart A, Smith JM, Skeans MA, Gustafson SK, Wilk AR, Castro S, et al.OPTN/SRTR 2018 Annual Data Report: Kidney. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2020;**20 Suppl s1**:20-130. [MEDLINE: 31898417]

# Hayden 2013

Hayden JA, van der Windt DA, Cartwright JL, Cote P, Bombardier C.Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors.



Annals of Internal Medicine 2013;**158**(4):280-26. [MEDLINE: 23420236]

# Hecking 2014

Hecking M, Bieber BA, Ethier J, Kautzky-Willer A, Sunder-Plassmann G, Säemann MD, et al.Sex-specific differences in hemodialysis prevalence and practices and the male-to-female mortality rate: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). *PLoS Medicine* 2014;**11**(10):e1001750. [MEDLINE: 25350533]

#### Huguet 2013

Huguet A, Hayden JA, Stinson J, McGrath PJ, Chambers CT, Tougas ME, et al.Judging the quality of evidence in reviews of prognostic factor research: adapting the GRADE framework. *Systematic Reviews* 2013;**2**(1):71. [MEDLINE: 24007720]

# Li 2016

Li Z, Mei S, Xiang J, Zhou J, Zhang Q, Yan S, et al.Influence of donor-recipient sex mismatch on long-term survival of pancreatic grafts. *Scientific reports* 2016;**6**:29298. [MEDLINE: 27403718]

# Lindahl 2014

Lindahl JP, Reinholt FP, Eide IA, Hartmann A, Midtvedt K, Holdaas H, et al.In patients with type 1 diabetes simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation preserves longterm kidney graft ultrastructure and function better than transplantation of kidney alone. *Diabetologia* 2014;**57**(11):2357-65. [MEDLINE: 25145544]

# Mauvais-Jarvis 2020

Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, et al.Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. *Lancet* 2020;**396**(10250):565-82. [MEDLINE: 32828189]

#### **Meier-Kriesche 2004**

Meier-Kriesche HU, Schold JD, Srinivas TR, Kaplan B.Lack of improvement in renal allograft survival despite a marked decrease in acute rejection rates over the most recent era. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2004;**4**(3):378-83. [MEDLINE: 14961990]

#### Melk 2019

Melk A, Babitsch B, Borchert-Mörlins B, Claas F, Dipchand Al, Eifert S, et al.Equally interchangeable? How sex and gender affect transplantation. *Transplantation* 2019;**103**(6):1094-110. [MEDLINE: 30747857]

#### Messner 2019

Messner F, Etra JW, Haugen CE, Bösmüller C, Maglione M, Hackl H, et al.Sex matching does not impact the outcome after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. *Clinical Transplantation* 2019;**33**(11):e13717. [MEDLINE: 31545525]

#### Mitsnefes 2013

Mitsnefes MM, Laskin BL, Dahhou M, Zhang X, Foster BJ.Mortality risk among children initially treated with dialysis for end-stage kidney disease, 1990-2010. *JAMA* 2013;**309**(18):1921-9. [MEDLINE: 23645144]

# Moher 2009

Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group.Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Medicine* 2009;**6**(7):e10000097. [MEDLINE: 19621072]

#### Momper 2017

Momper JD, Misel ML, McKay DB.Sex differences in transplantation. *Transplantation Reviews* 2017;**31**(3):145-50. [MEDLINE: 28262425]

#### Moons 2014

Moons KG, de Groot JA, Bouwmeester W, Vergouwe Y, Mallet S, Altman DG, et al.Critical appraisal and data extraction for systematic reviews of prediction modelling studies: the CHARMS checklist. *PLoS Medicine* 2014;**11**(10):e1001744. [MEDLINE: 25314315]

# Moons 2018

Moons KG, Hooft L, Williams K, Hayden JA, Damen JA, Riley RD.Implementing systematic reviews of prognostic studies in Cochrane [Editorial]. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.ED000129]

# Morris 1999

Morris PJ, Johnson RJ, Fuggle SV, Belger MA, Briggs JD.Analysis of factors that affect outcome of primary cadaveric renal transplantation in the UK. HLA Task Force of the Kidney Advisory Group of the United Kingdom Transplant Support Service Authority (UKTSSA). *Lancet* 1999;**354**(9185):1147-52. [MEDLINE: 10513707]

#### Muller 1999

Muller V, Szabo A, Viklicky O, Gaul I, Portl S, Philipp T, et al.Sex hormones and gender-related differences: their influence on chronic renal allograft rejection. *Kidney International* 1999;**55**(5):2011-20. [MEDLINE: 10231466]

#### Porrett 2018

Porrett PM.Biologic mechanisms and clinical consequences of pregnancy alloimmunization. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2018;**18**(5):1059-67. [MEDLINE: 29369525]

#### Prommool 2000

Prommool S, Jhangri GS, Cockfield SM, Halloran PF.Time dependency of factors affecting renal allograft survival. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2000;**11**(3):565-73. [MEDLINE: 10703681]

#### Redfield 2016

Redfield RR, Scalea JR, Zens TJ, Mandelbrot DA, Leverson G, Kaufman DB, et al.The mode of sensitization and its influence on allograft outcomes in highly sensitized kidney transplant recipients. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2016;**31**(10):1746-53. [MEDLINE: 27387475]

# Richie 1983

Richie RE, Niblack GD, Johnson HK, Green WF, Macdonell RC, Turner BI, et al.Factors influencing the outcome ofkKidney transplants. *Annals of Surgery* 1983;**197**(6):672-7. [MEDLINE: 6344816]



#### Schaubel 2000

Schaubel DE, Stewart DE, Morrison HI, Zimmerman DL, Cameron JI, Jeffery JJ, et al.Sex inequality in kidney transplantation rates. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2000;**160**(15):2349-54. [MEDLINE: 10927733]

#### Shibue 1987

Shibue T, Kondo K, Iwaki Y, Terasaki Pl.Effect of sex on kidney transplants. *Clinical Transplants* 1987:351-60. [MEDLINE: 3154434]

#### Soldin 2009

Soldin OP, Mattison DR.Sex differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 2009;**48**(3):143-57. [MEDLINE: 19385708]

# **SONG-Tx 2020**

SONG-Tx.Standardised Outcomes in Nephrology-Transplant. www.songinitiative.org/projects/song-tx/ (accessed 2 January 2022).

#### Spivey 2014

Spivey CA, Chisholm-Burns MA, Damadzadeh B, Billheimer D.Determining the effect of immunosuppressant adherence on graft failure risk among renal transplant recipients. *Clinical Transplantation* 2014;**28**(1):96-104. [MEDLINE: 24329814]

# Steinman 2006

Steinman JL.Gender disparity in organ donation. *Gender Medicine* 2006;**3**(4):246-52. [MEDLINE: 17582366]

#### Tan 2008

Tan JC, Wadia PP, Coram M, Grumet FC, Kambham N, Miller K, et al.H-Y antibody development associates with acute rejection in

# APPENDICES

# Appendix 1. MEDLINE and EMBASE search strategy

female patients with male kidney transplants. *Transplantation* 2008;**86**(1):75-81. [MEDLINE: 18622281]

# Taneja 2018

Taneja V.Sex hormones determine immune response. *Frontiers in immunology* 2018;**9**:1931. [MEDLINE: 30210492]

#### Tierney 2007

Tierney JF, Stewart LA, Ghersi D, Burdett S, Sydes MR.Practical methods for incorporating summary time-to-event data into meta-analysis. *Trials [Electronic Resource]* 2007;**8**(1):16. [MEDLINE: 17555582]

#### Trigunaite 2015

Trigunaite A, Dimo J, Jørgensen TN.Suppressive effects of androgens on the immune system. *Cellular Immunology* 2015;**294**(2):87-94. [MEDLINE: 25708485]

# Wang 2016

Wang JH, Skeans MA, Israni AK.Current status of kidney transplant outcomes: dying to survive. *Advances in Chronic Kidney Disease* 2016;**23**(5):281-6. [MEDLINE: 27742381]

# Wang 2017

Wang L, Song J, Wang S, Buggs J, Chen R, Zhang J, et al.Crosssex transplantation alters gene expression and enhances inflammatory response in the transplanted kidneys. *American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology* 2017;**313**(2):F326-38. [MEDLINE: 28515172]

#### Wolfe 1999

Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY, et al.Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999;**341**(23):1725-30. [MEDLINE: 10580071]

Database	Search terms
MEDLINE	1. Kidney Transplantation/
	2. Pancreas Transplantation/
	3. ((kidney or renal or pancrea*) adj2 (transplant* or graft* or allograft*)).tw.
	4. or/1-3
	5. Sex Factors/
	6. Sex Characteristics/
	7. exp Gender Identity/
	8. exp "Sexual and Gender Minorities"/
	9. exp Sexuality/
	10.or/5-9
	11.sex.tw.
	12.sexual*.tw.
	13.gender.tw.
	14.transgender.tw.



(Continued)		
	15.transsexual*.tw.	
	16.intergender.tw.	
	17.intersex*.tw.	
	18.bisexual*.tw.	
	19.queer.tw.	
	20.homosexual*.tw.	
	21.lesbian*.tw.	
	22.non-binary.tw.	
	23.or/11-22	
	24.or/10,23	
	25.and/4,24	
EMBASE	1. exp kidney transplantation/	
	2. ((kidney or renal or pancrea*) adj2 (transplant* or graft* or allograft*)).tw.	
	3. or/1-2	
	4. exp "gender and sex"/	
	5. sex.tw.	
	6. sexual*.tw.	
	7. gender.tw.	
	8. transgender.tw.	
	9. transsexual*.tw.	
	10.intergender.tw.	
	11.intersex*.tw.	
	12.bisexual*.tw.	
	13.queer.tw.	
	14.homosexual*.tw.	
	15.lesbian*.tw.	
	16.non-binary.tw.	
	17.or/5-16	
	18.or/4,17	
	19.and/3,18	

# Appendix 2. Preliminary study selection, data extraction and risk of bias forms

# **Data extraction**

The CHARMS Checklist for systematic reviews of prognostic factors and models (Moons 2014) will provide a framework for the data extraction forms.

The data extraction forms will be detailed and will include at least the following details:

- Study identifiers: including title, author, year
- Extractor
- Author definitions of sex and gender (understand that such a definition may be missing)
- Number of participants within each sex and/or gender group
- Study details: including the type of study, number of participants, baseline demographics such as age, self-reported ethnicity
- Characteristics of transplantation: including pathology involved, type of transplant
- Author definitions of sex and gender
- SONG-Transplant outcomes identified by the study.

# **Risk of Bias**

The risk of bias will be assessed using a modified QUIPS tool (Hayden 2013).

Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Each bias domain will be rated as yes/no/partial/unsure, and an overall rating of the risk of bias will be given as low/moderate/high.

Bias Domain	Issues to consider for judging overall rating of risk of bias
1. Study participation	
Adequate study participation	There is adequate participation in the study by eligible individuals
Source of target population	The source population or population of interest is adequately described for key characteristics
Baseline study sample	The baseline study sample is adequately described for key characteristics
Sampling frame and recruitment	The sampling frame and recruitment are adequately described, including methods to identify the sample sufficient to limit potential bias
Period and place of recruitment	The time period and place of recruitment are adequately described
Inclusion and exclusion criteria	The inclusion and exclusion criteria are adequately described
2. Study attrition	
Response rate	Proportion of study sample completing the study and providing outcome data is adequate
Information on participants who dropped out	Attempts to collect information on participants who dropped out of the study are adequately described
Reasons for loss to follow-up	Reasons and potential impacts of those lost to follow up are provided
Outcome and prognostic factor information on those lost to fol- low-up	Participants lost to follow-up are adequately described for key characteristics and there are no important differences between key characteristics and outcomes in those who completed the study and those who didn't
3. Prognostic factor measurement	
Definition of prognostic factor	A clear definition of the prognostic factor is provided
Valid and reliable measurement of the prognostic factor	The method of prognostic factor measurement is adequately valid and reliable and continuous variables are reported or appropriate cut-points.
Measurement and setting of prog- nostic factor measurement	The method and setting of measurement of prognostic factor measurement is the same for all study participants
Proportion of data on prognostic factor available for analysis	Adequate proportion of the study sample has complete data for the prognostic factor variable
Method used for missing data	Appropriate methods of imputation are used for missing prognostic factor data
4. outcome measurement	
Definition of the outcome	A clear definition of the outcome is provided, including duration of follow-up and level and ex- tent of the outcome construct
Valid and reliable measurement of outcome	The method of outcome measurement used is adequately valid and reliable to limit misclassifi- cation bias

#### (Continued)

Method and setting of outcome The method and setting of outcome measurement is the same for all study participants measurement

5. Study confounding				
Important confounders measures	All important confounders including treatments are measured			
Definition of the confounding fac- tor	Clear definitions of the important confounders are provided			
Valid and reliable measurement of confounders	Measurement of all important confounders is adequately valid and reliable			
Method and setting of confound- ing measurement	The method and setting of confounding measurement are the same for all study participants			
Method used for missing data	Appropriate methods are used if imputation is used for missing confounder data			
Appropriate accounting for con- founding	Important potential confounders are accounted for in the study design and in the analysis			
6. Statistical analysis and reporting				
Presentation of analytical strategy	There is sufficient presentation of data to assess the adequacy of the analysis.			
Model development strategy	The strategy for model building is appropriate and based on a conceptual framework or model and the selected statistical model is adequate for the design of the study			
Reporting of results	There is no selective reporting of results			

# Appendix 3. The GRADE (Grading of Recommendation, Assessment, Development and Evaluation) approach for assessment of evidence about prognostic factors

A modified GRADE approach for the assessment of evidence about prognostic factors will be used (Foroutan 2020). Evidence can be rated in one of four grades:

- 1. High: very confident that the variation in risk associated with the prognostic factor (probability of future events in those with/without the prognostic factor) lies close to that of the estimate.
- 2. Moderate: moderately confident that the variation in risk associated with the prognostic factor is likely to be close to the estimate, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different
- 3. Low: certainty in the estimate is limited. The variation in risk associated with the prognostic factor may be substantially different from the estimate
- 4. Very low: little certainty in the estimate. The variation in risk associated with the prognostic factor is likely to be substantially different from the estimate

Factors that may decrease the quality of evidence about prognosis (Huguet 2013):

- Phase of investigation
- Study limitations
- Inconsistencies
- Imprecision
- Indirectness
- Publication bias.

Factors that may increase the quality:

• Moderate or large effect size

Sex and gender as predictors for allograft and patient-relevant outcomes after kidney transplantation (Protocol) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



• Exposure-response gradient.

# Appendix 4. Sex and gender appraisal tool for systematic reviews

# **Review section: Background**

- Are the terms sex/gender\* used in the background?
- Are sex/gender identified as relevant or not to the review question?
- Does background discuss why sex/gender differences may be expected?

#### **Review section: Objectives**

• Are the terms sex, gender, male, or female used in objectives?

#### **Review section: Criteria for inclusion/exclusion**

- Does the review's inclusion/exclusion criteria consider sex/gender differences?
- Was there justification or explanation for the exclusion of some groups?

#### **Review section: Methods**

- Does the review examine whether outcome measures are different for males and females?
- Did the review extract data by sex?
- Did the review extract data on the sex of withdrawals and dropouts?
- In cases where sex/gender is used as a proxy for other measures (e.g. weight), is there an explanation for this approach?
- Were any subgroup analyses completed?
- Were subgroup analyses by sex completed?

#### **Review section: Results and analysis**

- Do results distinguish between findings for males/females?
- Does the review report conclusions (of effectiveness, efficacy, safety) that are different for men and women?
- If adverse effects are reported, is information sex-disaggregated?
- Does the review note that subgroup analyses by sex could not be done?

# **Review section: Discussion and conclusions**

- Does the review report that primary studies analysed or failed to analyse results by sex?
- Does the review address sex/gender implications for clinical practice?
- Does the review address sex/gender implications for policy and regulation?
- Does the review address sex/gender implications for research?

#### **Review section: Table of included studies**

• Does the description of included studies give detailed information on study samples?

\* Note: Sex/gender is used here to mean sex and/or gender.

Possible responses: "Yes, review met criteria"; "No, review did not meet criteria"; "Item was not applicable to review"; and "Unable to determine"

# CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

- 1. Draft the protocol: all authors
- 2. Study selection: SJ, NB, JC, DD, AL, TC
- 3. Extract data from studies: SJ, NB, JC, DD, AL
- 4. Enter data into RevMan: SJ, NB, JC, DD, AL
- 5. Carry out the analysis: SJ, NB, JC, DD, AL, KB
- 6. Interpret the analysis: SJ, JC, DD, AL, KB, TC, GW
- 7. Draft the final review: all authors
- 8. Disagreement resolution: TC
- 9. Update the review: all authors



# DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

- Sumedh Jayanti has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Nadim A Beruni has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Juanita Chui has declared they have no conflict of interest
- · Danny Deng has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Amy Liang has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Anita Chong has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Jonathan C Craig has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Bethany Foster has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Martin Howell has declared they have no conflict of interest
- · Siah Kim has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Roslyn Mannon has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Ruth Sapir-Pichhadze has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Nicole Scholes-Robertson has declared they have no conflict of interest
- · Alexandra Strauss has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Allison Tong has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Lori West has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Tess E Cooper has declared they have no conflict of interest
- Germaine Wong has declared they have no conflict of interest

# SOURCES OF SUPPORT

# **Internal sources**

• No financial support received, Australia

# **External sources**

• No financial support received, Australia